RECEIVED

Apr 23 2026

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Jennifer B. McCoy, Circuit Court Judge

Case No.: 2024-CP-10-00180

Appellate Case No.: 2025-000526

Michael Bolmer,

Respondent,

v.

Charleston ANUSA, LLC d/b/a AutoNation
USA Charleston and Westlake Services, LLC
d/b/a Westlake Financial Services,

Appellants.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANTS

Respectfully submitted,

HAYNSWORTH SINKLER BOYD, P.A.

s/ Sarah A. Hodges

James Y. Becker, SC Bar No. 64991
Sarah A. Hodges, SC Bar No. 106253
1201 Main Street, 22nd Floor (29201-3226)

Columbia, South Carolina

Telephone: (803) 779-3080

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

I. Did the Circuit Court err in denying AutoNation's motion to stay the litigation and compel arbitration?

II. Has the issue of AutoNation's waiver of its right to compel arbitration been preserved for appellate review, and if so, is a finding of waiver appropriate based on the undisputed facts and applicable law regarding waiver of arbitration rights?

STATEMENT OF CASE

Respondent Michael Bolmer (“Bolmer”) purchased a 2012 Ford Focus, VIN #1FAHP3K2XCL273616 (the “Ford Focus”) from Charleston ANUSA, LLC d/b/a AutoNation USA Charleston (“AutoNation”) in March of 2023. (R. 4). At the time of the sale, Bolmer executed a Retail Purchase Agreement, which contained a mandatory arbitration provision. (R. 21-22). Bolmer financed the purchase (the “Loan”) through Westlake Services, LLC d/b/a Westlake Financial Services (“Westlake”). (See R. 4). Bolmer later returned the Ford Focus under AutoNation’s return policy and then purchased a different vehicle through a different lender. (R. 6). Despite returning the vehicle and rescinding the Loan, Bolmer alleges that Westlake demanded Loan payments from Bolmer and reported missed loan payments to credit reporting bureaus. (*Id.*).

In June 2023, Bolmer filed a demand for arbitration with the American Arbitration Association (the “AAA”) as provided in the Retail Purchase Agreement. (*Id.*). In August 2023, the AAA sent AutoNation notice of Bolmer’s demand for arbitration. In the correspondence, the AAA also requested that AutoNation pay the requisite filing fee. (R. 6-7). Evidently, the AAA mailed the Demand and all subsequent notices directly to AutoNation’s dealership location rather than its registered agent. (*Id.*). On September 8, 2023, the AAA notified AutoNation that the filing fees were due on September 22, 2023. (R. 8-9). Unfortunately, the appropriate AutoNation personnel—the employees who handle legal claims—did not timely receive the notice. (R. 31). AutoNation inadvertently missed the deadline to pay and mistakenly failed to remit payment for the filing fee. (*Id.*). But AutoNation did not intentionally refuse to participate in the arbitration. (*Id.*).

In fact, AutoNation contacted the undersigned counsel on or about October 4, 2023, requesting legal representation for the arbitration demand filed by Bolmer. (*Id.*). The next day, AutoNation’s counsel contacted the AAA and filed a notice of appearance in the matter. (*Id.*).

Shortly after filing the notice of appearance, the AAA notified AutoNation's counsel that the case was administratively closed on September 27, 2023. (*Id.*). The AAA informed AutoNation that it could re-open the case with Bolmer's consent. (*Id.*). To that end, AutoNation's counsel requested Bolmer's consent to re-open the case, (*Id.*), but Bolmer's counsel, refused, alleging that AutoNation had waived its rights to arbitration. (*Id.*). Bolmer subsequently filed this action on January 12, 2024, (R. 4-13), and AutoNation moved to compel the parties to arbitration on September 4, 2024. (R. 21-29). After receiving briefing and a hearing, the trial court denied AutoNation's motion without explanation by a Form 4 Order on February 14, 2025. (R. 1-3).

STANDARD OF REVIEW

A decision on a motion to stay litigation and compel arbitration is a “legal conclusion subject to *de novo* review.” *Liberty Builders, Inc. v. Horton*, 336 S.C. 658, 663–64, 521 S.E.2d 749, 752 (Ct. App. 1999). Appellate courts must give reasonable deference to the circuit court’s findings of fact underlying their legal conclusion. *Id.*

ARGUMENT

I. The circuit court erred in denying AutoNation’s motion to compel because Bolmer’s lawsuit is subject to mandatory arbitration under the Federal Arbitration Act.

The Retail Purchase Agreement contains an arbitration provision. (R. 21). The arbitration provision states that arbitration “will be the sole method of resolving any claim, dispute, or controversy [] that either party has” and any arbitration “shall be governed by the Federal Arbitration Act” (the “FAA”). (R. 21-22). The FAA requires courts to stay “‘any suit or proceeding’ pending arbitration of ‘any issue referable to arbitration under an agreement in writing for such arbitration.’” 9 U.S.C. § 3. “This stay-of-litigation provision is mandatory,” *Adkins v. Lab. Ready, Inc.*, 303 F.3d 496, 500 (4th Cir. 2002), and the “court therefore has no choice but to grant a motion to compel arbitration where a valid arbitration agreement exists and the issues in a case fall within its purview.” *Id.* (citing *United States v. Bankers Ins. Co.*, 245 F.3d 315, 319 (4th Cir.2001)).

Both South Carolina courts and the Fourth Circuit compel arbitration under the FAA when a litigant can demonstrate:

(1) the existence of a dispute between the parties, (2) a written agreement that includes an arbitration provision which purports to cover the dispute, (3) the relationship of the transaction, which is evidenced by the agreement, to interstate or foreign commerce, and (4) the failure, neglect or refusal of the [litigant] to arbitrate the dispute.

Adkins, 303 F.3d at 500–01; see *Episcopal Hous. Corp. v. Fed. Ins. Co.*, 269 S.C. 631, 637, 239 S.E.2d 647, 650 (1977) (applying the same elements); *Circle S. Enterprises v. Stanley Smith & Sons*, 288 S.C. 428, 343 S.E.2d 45 (Ct.App.1986). Each element was met here.

A. The arbitration provision covers the dispute between AutoNation and Bolmer.

The first two elements outlined in *Adkins* were clearly met: (1) there is a dispute between AutoNation and Bolmer; and (2) there is a written agreement that includes an arbitration provision covering the dispute. First, there is a dispute between AutoNation and Bolmer because Bolmer filed this lawsuit alleging negligence and a violation of the unfair trade practices act concerning the sale and financing of the Ford Focus. Bolmer does not dispute this element. (R. 43-51; *see also* R. 64-75).

Second, the arbitration provision covers the allegations and causes of action in the Complaint. *See Towles v. United HealthCare Corp.*, 338 S.C. 29, 41, 524 S.E.2d 839, 846 (Ct. App. 1999) (“An arbitration clause is a contractual term, and general rules of contract interpretation must be applied to determine a clause’s applicability to a particular dispute.”) In relevant part, the arbitration provision provides that the parties are required to participate in arbitration to resolve certain claims:

Claims include, but are not limited to the following: Claims in contract, tort, regulatory, statutory, equitable, or otherwise; Claims relating to any representations, promises, undertakings, warranties, covenants or service; Claims regarding the interpretation, scope, or validity of this Agreement, or arbitrability of any issue; Claims between You and Dealer Parties; and **Claims arising out of or relating to Your application for credit, this Agreement, and/or any and all documents executed, presented or negotiated during Purchaser/ Dealer Party Interactions, or any resulting transaction, service, or relationship**, including that with Dealer Parties, or any relationship with third parties who do not sign this Agreement that arises out of the Purchaser/Dealer Party Interactions.

(R. 33). Bolmer alleges that Westlake erroneously reported missing payments to credit bureaus after Bolmer returned the Ford Focus and canceled the Loan. (R. 4; R. 15). These allegations arise out of the Retail Purchase Agreement, Bolmer’s application for credit, and the resulting transaction with Westlake. Bolmer does not dispute this element. (R. 43-63; R. 64-76).

B. The arbitration provision implicates interstate commerce.

The arbitration provision between Bolmer and AutoNation is for the purchase and financing of a motor vehicle. The South Carolina Supreme Court has held that motor vehicle contracts involve interstate commerce for the purposes of the FAA. *Simpson v. MSA of Myrtle Beach, Inc.*, 373 S.C. 14, 22, 644 S.E.2d 663, 667, n. 1 (2007); *see also York v. Dodgeland of Columbia, Inc.*, 406 S.C. 67, 79, 749 S.E.2d 139, 145 (Ct. App. 2013) (affirming that vehicle sales contracts involve interstate commerce); *see also Stout v. J.D. Byrider*, 228 F.3d 709, 715 (6th Cir.2000) (holding contracts for the purchase and financing of a vehicle involve interstate commerce); *Scott v. EFN Invs., LLC*, 312 F. App'x 254 (11th Cir. 2009) (same).

To be sure, “[w]hen a case involves allegations of the use of the instrumentalities of interstate commerce, *or persons or things in interstate commerce*, a court need not reach the question whether the underlying transaction ‘substantially affects’ interstate commerce, because such persons and things, by definition, substantially affect—because they are components of—interstate commerce.” *Thornton v. Trident Med. Ctr., L.L.C.*, 357 S.C. 91, 100, 592 S.E.2d 50, 54 (Ct. App. 2003) (emphasis added). The purchase and financing of a vehicle clearly involves a “thing” in interstate commerce. Consequently, the Retail Purchase Agreement between Bolmer and AutoNation involves interstate commerce as required by the FAA. Again, Bolmer does not dispute this element. (R. 43-63; R. 64-76).

C. Bolmer failed and refused to arbitrate the dispute.

The final element is met. Bolmer refused to re-open the arbitration case, and instead initiated this lawsuit. Bolmer has continued to refuse requests to submit the complaint to binding arbitration. Bolmer does not dispute this element. (R. 51-63; R. 64-76). Because all four of the elements in *Adkins* were met, the district court had “no choice but to grant a motion to compel

arbitration.” *Adkins, Inc.*, 303 at 500. The circuit court’s order denying AutoNation’s motion to compel was therefore an error, and this Court should reverse the circuit court’s order, requiring the parties to submit to arbitration.

II. Bolmer’s waiver argument has not been preserved for appellate review, but if so, AutoNation did not waive its right to compel arbitration, and the circuit court erred in denying AutoNation’s motion to compel arbitration.

Bolmer submitted an opposition brief to AutoNation’s motion to compel arguing solely that AutoNation waived its right to arbitrate the dispute. (R. 43-63). The circuit court, however, did not rule on or even address Bolmer’s waiver argument in its Order, and Bolmer did not file a Rule 59(e) motion asking the Court to alter or amend its judgment. (*See* R. 1).

A. Bolmer’s waiver argument is not preserved for appellate review because it was not specifically ruled upon by the circuit court.

To preserve an argument for appeal, South Carolina courts have established that an issue must be raised to and ruled upon by the circuit court to be preserved for appellate review. *Pye v. Est. of Fox*, 369 S.C. 555, 566, 633 S.E.2d 505, 511 (2006) (“[T]he Supreme Court identifies two ways to preserve the issue: “a ruling by the trial judge or a post-trial motion.”), *overruled on other grounds*. In *Elam v. South Carolina Dept. of Transp.*, 361 S.C. 9, 602 S.E.2d 772 (2004), the South Carolina Supreme Court stated that “[a] party must file [] a motion [to alter or amend the judgment] when an issue or argument has been raised, but not ruled on, in order to preserve it for appellate review.”

In his memorandum in opposition to AutoNation’s motion to compel, Bolmer argued solely that AutoNation waived its right to compel arbitration. (R. 43-63). As the party asserting waiver, Bolmer had the burden to prove that AutoNation waived its right to compel arbitration. *Myers v. Town of Calhoun Falls*, 441 S.C. 146, 155, 892 S.E.2d 514, 518–19 (Ct. App. 2023) (“The party

seeking to establish waiver or laches has the burden of proof.”). But the circuit court did not specifically rule on Bolmer’s waiver argument. Instead, the Court issued a Form 4 Order denying AutoNation’s motion to compel. (*See* R. 1). The only specific ruling the circuit court made was on AutoNation’s motion to compel. (*See id.*). It did not make any specific findings or otherwise rule on Bolmer’s waiver argument. (*See id.*). Bolmer did not file a Rule 59(e) motion for the Court to address his waiver argument. And by failing to file a Rule 59(e) motion, Bolmer has failed to preserve the waiver argument for appellate review. Therefore, this Court should only determine whether denying AutoNation’s motion to compel arbitration was error under Section I, *supra*.

B. Regardless, waiver is not supported by the undisputed facts and South Carolina law.

i. Applicable law regarding waiver of arbitration rights.

South Carolina, along with numerous other state and federal courts, created an arbitration-specific waiver rule that required a showing of prejudice. *See Morgan v. Sundance, Inc.*, 596 U.S. 411, 417 (2022); *see also Liberty Builders, Inc.*, 336 S.C. at 665, 521 S.E.2d at 753 (“In order to establish waiver, a party must show prejudice through an undue burden caused by delay in demanding arbitration.”); *Carlson v. S.C. State Plastering, LLC*, 404 S.C. 250, 257, 743 S.E.2d 868, 872 (Ct. App. 2013) (listing factors in determining waiver of arbitration including “whether the non-moving party was prejudiced by the delay in seeking arbitration.”). Courts “justified adopting [this] prejudice requirement based on the ‘liberal national policy favoring arbitration.’” *Morgan*, 596 U.S. at 418 (internal citations omitted). But the Supreme Court recently rejected the prejudice requirement because the policy favoring arbitration does not authorize courts to invent special rules. *Id.*; *see also Palmetto Constr. Grp., LLC v. Restoration Specialists, LLC*, 432 S.C. 633, 639, 856 S.E.2d 150, 153 (2021) (“Neither the Supreme Court nor this Court, however, meant

to give the law of arbitration such a special status that it would supplant state procedural law.”) With its ruling, the Supreme Court returned to the traditional understanding of the FAA’s policy favoring arbitration:

The policy, we have explained, is merely an acknowledgment of the FAA’s commitment to overrule the judiciary’s longstanding refusal to enforce agreements to arbitrate and to place such agreements upon the same footing as other contracts. Or in another formulation: The policy is to make arbitration agreements as enforceable as other contracts, but not more so.

Morgan, 596 U.S. at 418. The South Carolina Supreme Court has also acknowledged this misconception. *Lampo v. Amedisys Holding, LLC*, 445 S.C. 305, 317, 914 S.E.2d 139, 146 (2025) (“An arbitration contract is like any other contract: if it exists, it will be enforced according to its terms.” (citing *Morgan*, 596 U.S. at 417–19 (describing the decision as “unanimously rebuking the Eighth Circuit for creating ‘arbitration-specific variants of federal procedural rules’ based on the incorrect notion of a ‘policy favoring arbitration’ and stating, ‘[t]he federal policy is about treating arbitration contracts like all others, not about fostering arbitration’”))).

Instead, the Supreme Court directed federal courts applying arbitration provisions under the FAA to focus on the traditional understanding of waiver—the intentional relinquishment or abandonment of a known right—rather than the arbitration-specific prejudice requirement. *Morgan*, 596 U.S. at 417–19. Although South Carolina has not directly applied the holding in *Sundance* to the waiver context, the South Carolina Supreme Court’s recent decisions indicate that it would follow the logic in *Sundance* when interpreting arbitration provisions.¹ See *Lampo*, 445 S.C. 305, 914 S.E.2d 139 (analyzing arbitration agreement under ordinary contract-formation

¹ Despite the Supreme Court “directing” its decision to federal courts, its ruling would apply equally to state courts interpreting arbitration provisions under the FAA.

principles); *Damico v. Lennar Carolinas, LLC*, 437 S.C. 596, 879 S.E.2d 746 (2022) (analyzing whether arbitration agreement was unconscionable under ordinary contract-defense principles).

With that in mind, South Carolina courts should look to our traditional understanding of waiver rather than applying the arbitration-specific factors previously laid out by South Carolina's appellate courts in deciding whether a party has waived their right to arbitration. Under federal and South Carolina law, "[w]aiver is a voluntary and intentional abandonment or relinquishment of a known right." *Strickland v. Strickland*, 375 S.C. 76, 85, 650 S.E.2d 465, 470 (2007).

Under the new standard and based on the undisputed facts, AutoNation did not voluntarily and intentionally abandon its right to arbitration. AutoNation's failure to timely participate in the original demand for arbitration was the result of human error. The arbitration notices from the AAA were mailed to AutoNation's dealership location. (R. 31). The personnel in charge of legal claims do not work locally at that dealership and the notices simply did not make it to the correct personnel in time to meet the AAA's filing fees deadlines. (*Id.*). After receiving the arbitration notice, however, AutoNation's legal office promptly retained its undersigned counsel. (*Id.*). And once retained, AutoNation's counsel immediately reached out to the AAA to file a notice of appearance in the action and requested the correct amount for the filing fee. (*Id.*). Unbeknownst to AutoNation and its counsel, the AAA had closed the case only seven days prior. (*Id.*). AutoNation took active steps to participate in the AAA, albeit delayed. (*Id.*). AutoNation even took steps with the AAA to get the case re-opened. (*Id.*). But Bolmer refused to cooperate with AutoNation. (*Id.*). With Bolmer's cooperation, the AAA would have simply re-opened the case, and AutoNation would have proceeded in the arbitration without delay. AutoNation clearly expressed a willingness to participate in the arbitration. An error in transmitting the arbitration demand to the AutoNation

legal department and mere delay in paying filing fees, mistakes that AutoNation quickly attempted to correct, is not a voluntary and intentional relinquishment of a known right amounting to waiver.

ii. Even under the old standard, Bolmer's other arguments regarding waiver are unavailing.

Bolmer raised two arguments under the old legal standard to support his position that AutoNation waived its right to arbitrate. (R. 45-51). First, Bolmer argued that AutoNation's failure to pay the AAA filing fees, or otherwise follow the AAA rules, resulted in waiver. (R. 45-48). Second, Bolmer argued that he was prejudiced by AutoNation's delay in filing its motion to compel arbitration. Both arguments are unavailing. (R. 48-51).

Bolmer relies on *Russell v. Wyndham Vacation Resorts, Inc.*, 22-CV-0880-L-DDL, 2023 WL 139803 (S.D. Cal. Jan. 9, 2023),² to argue that the failure to follow the AAA rules results in a waiver. (R. 45-48). But this case directly supports AutoNation's argument. In *Russell*, the plaintiff filed a demand for arbitration with the AAA. *Id.* at *1. Roughly a month later, the defendant received a letter from the AAA declining to administer the claim because the defendant failed to comply with the AAA's policies. *Id.* The letter from the AAA stated:

We have administratively closed our file and will refund any payment received by the filing party. According to R-1(d) of the Consumer Rules, should the AAA decline to administer an arbitration, either party may choose to submit its dispute to the appropriate court for resolution.

Id. After receiving the letter, the defendant attempted to work with the AAA to resolve the issues and remedy the defendant's purported failures. *Id.* at *3. The AAA failed to provide the defendant with clear instructions to resolve the issues before plaintiff filed a complaint in state court. *Id.*

² Bolmer's actual citation is listed as *Reynolds v. Wyndham Vacation Resorts*, No. 2020-CP-26-07441, 2021 S.C. C.P. LEXIS 2288 (S.C. Ct. Common Pleas 2021). After review, *Reynolds* does not stand for the proposition asserted by Bolmer.

Because the defendant “requested guidance from the AAA” to participate in the arbitration, the Court found that the defendant did not act inconsistent with the right to arbitrate. *Id.* at *5. In fact, in the Court’s view, the defendant’s actions to resolve the issues with the AAA indicated the defendant’s willingness to arbitrate. *Id.* Ultimately, the Court found that the defendant did not waive its right to arbitration. *Id.* Similar to the defendant in *Russell*, AutoNation attempted to resolve the issues with AAA in order to participate in the arbitration. And AutoNation’s request to Bolmer to re-open the case clearly indicated AutoNation’s willingness to arbitrate the claim.

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