RECEIVED

Oct 14 2025

SC Court of Appeals

IN THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY
Jennifer B. McCoy, Circuit Court Judge
Case No.: 2024-VP-10-00180

APPELLATE CASE NO.: 2025-000526

Michael Bolmer,

Respondent

v.

Charleston, ANUSA, LLC d/b/a AutoNation
USA Charleston and Westlake Services, LLC
d/b/a Westlake Financial Services,

Appellant

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

Respectfully submitted:

MILLER|CONWAY

WADDELL LAW FIRM, LLC

/s/ David P. Conway

/s/ A. Scott Waddell

David P. Conway, Bar No.: 80204
124C S. Goose Creek Blvd – PO Box 938
Goose Creek, SC 29445
dconway@millerconwaylaw.com
T: (843) 764-3334

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

After receiving no response from AutoNation, and giving AutoNation a week grace period, on September 08, 2023, the AAA sent a second letter to AutoNation, again mailed to the address AutoNation had identified in its contract with Bolmer (Compare R. p. 25 with R. pp. 8-10, ¶ 19). In the AAA's September 08, 2023 letter, AutoNation was advised that: (1) Bolmer had paid his filing fee; (2) AutoNation was required to remit payment by September 22, 2023; (3) if AutoNation did not pay the fee, the AAA would administratively close the case; and (4) if AutoNation needed an extension, it should contact the AAA (R. pp. 8-10, ¶ 19).¹ AutoNation admits it received the September 08, 2023 correspondence from the AAA (R. p. 68, lines 1-5). *See also* App. Br., p. 5 (“On September 8, 2023, the AAA notified AutoNation that the filing fees were due on September 22, 2023.”).

¹ AAA's September 27, 2023 letter mentioned only AutoNation's failure to pay. It is unknown whether AutoNation submitted its “current consumer arbitration agreement” to the AAA as requested on August 16, 2023.

On September 27, 2023 (after a second grace period), AAA sent a letter to AutoNation in which it notified AutoNation:

As of this date we have not received the required fees from AutoNation USA Charleston in this matter. Accordingly, we must decline to administer this case and have closed our file. According to R-1(d) of the Consumer Arbitration Rules, should the AAA decline to administer an arbitration, either party may choose to submit its dispute to the appropriate court for resolution.

Additionally, and because AutoNation USA Charleston failure to remit the foregoing constitutes a failure to adhere to our policies regarding consumer claims, we may decline to administer future consumer arbitrations involving AutoNation USA Charleston.

(R. pp. 8-10, ¶ 19).

AutoNation’s failure to pay the required filing fee was a default within the meaning of 9 U.S.C. § 3. In *Pre-Paid Legal Servs., Inc. v. Cahill*, one party refused to pay his share of arbitration costs despite repeated requests from the AAA. 786 F.3d 1287, 1294 (10th Cir. 2015). The Court held that, “by refusing multiple requests to pay, he allowed arbitration to terminate” and “[f]ailure to pay arbitration fees constitutes a “default” under § 3.” *Id. See also Rapaport v. Soffer*, 2:10–CV–00935–KJD–RJJ, 2011 WL 1827147, at *2 (D. Nev. May 12, 2011) (unpublished) (finding the defendant defaulted under § 3 because the AAA “closed” or “terminated” the case because the defendant failed to pay fees).

Because AutoNation defaulted within the meaning of 9 U.S.C. § 3, it cannot compel arbitration under 9 U.S.C. § 4. In *Sink*, the party who failed to pay arbitration fees sought to stay subsequent litigation and compel an order returning the case to arbitration. 352 F.3d at 1199. The Court held that failure to pay arbitration fees resulted in “default in the arbitration proceeding” within the meaning of § 3. *Id.* The party in *Sink* who sought to compel arbitration in the face of

its prior default in arbitration argued the Court was still required to compel arbitration pursuant to § 4 even if it could not stay litigation pursuant to § 3. The Court rejected this argument, holding:

It cannot sensibly be maintained that a district court is required to enter an order under § 4 compelling parties to return to arbitration under circumstances where § 3 precludes the district court from staying its own proceeding.

The interdependent nature of these two sections would be undermined if a party unable to stay litigation under § 3 because of a prior default in proceeding with arbitration could nonetheless compel a return to arbitration under § 4.

One purpose of the FAA's liberal approach to arbitration is the efficient and expeditious resolution of claims. ... This purpose is not served by requiring a district court to enter an order returning parties to arbitration upon the motion of a party that is already in default of arbitration. Another, and preeminent, purpose of the FAA is to ensure judicial enforcement of privately made agreements to arbitrate... But this purpose also is not served by returning parties to arbitration upon the motion of a party that is in default of arbitration. [The defendant's] failure to pay required costs of arbitration was a material breach of its obligations in connection with the arbitration.

We hold that a party to an arbitration agreement may not compel arbitration of claims under FAA § 4 where a prior default in arbitration of those claims precludes that party from obtaining a stay of litigation pending arbitration under § 3. ... Because [the movant] is in default, and the FAA no longer permits a stay of the court proceedings in favor of arbitration, the FAA commensurately does not require the district court to order the parties to return to arbitration.

Sink, 352 F.3d at 1201-1202.

“Failure to pay arbitration fees constitutes a ‘default’ under § 3,” so the court “cannot order the plaintiffs to go back to arbitration. *Quizinsight.com P’ship v. Tabak*, No. 18-CV-1878 (DLF), 2022 WL 18401758, at *2 (D.D.C. May 17, 2022). “When [non-payment] occurs, the party in default can no longer require the opposing party to proceed in arbitration (or be entitled to an order staying the case); instead, the action must proceed in court.” *Id.* See also *Hernandez v. Acosta*

Tractors, Inc., 898 F.3d 1301, 1303-1305 (11th Cir. 2018) (“Once [the defendant] defaulted in the arbitration [by failing to pay the required arbitration fees], the [d]istrict [c]ourt would have been within its power to find that [the defendant] could no longer require [the employee] to proceed in arbitration.”); *Souffrant v. First Choice Med. Grp. of Brevard, LLC*, 6:23-cv-1003-PGB-EJK, 2024 WL 4433459, *2 (M.D. Fla. Oct. 7, 2024) (“Defendant failed to pay the filing fee, so the AAA administratively closed the file on the matter. ... Consequently, the arbitration proceeding is in default [under § 3], and thus, the Court is no longer required to compel arbitration under the FAA.”);

Similar to *Sink*, in *Garcia v. Mason Cont. Prods., LLC*, the defendant did not pay its share of the arbitration fee which resulted in the arbitrator closing its file. 08–23103–CIV, 2010 WL 3259922, *1 (S.D. Fla. Aug. 18, 2010). Mere days after the arbitrator closed its file, the defendant “tried to cure its default on payment to the arbitrator” and argued the plaintiff was preventing the defendant from curing its default. *Id.* at *1, 3. The *Garcia* Court held:

Defendant is now in default. Plaintiff could absolve the Defendant of that default but chooses not to. Therefore, the FAA no longer compels us to dismiss or stay this case for arbitration. And we choose not to.

By failing to timely pay its share of the arbitration fee, Defendant materially breached its obligations, thereby “scuttling” that opportunity. ... [T]he FAA under these circumstances does not require a district court to return the parties once more to arbitration, whether under sections 3 or 4 of the FAA.

“[T]his default was ... an intentional and/or reckless act because the AAA provided repeated notices to the Defendant that timely payment of the fee had not been received.... There is no other description the Court can find for this self-created situation other than ‘default.’”

Absent Plaintiff's agreement, which is clearly not forthcoming, Defendant has forfeited its right to proceed with arbitration

Id. at *2-4.

AutoNation clearly defaulted when it refused to pay its share of arbitration filing fee despite receiving "several" notices from the AAA demanding AutoNation's pay its share of the arbitration filing fee. At the hearing on AutoNation's motion to compel, it admitted:

In August of 2023, the AAA sent correspondence to Auto Nation and the other parties informing of Bolmer's demand for arbitration. It -- the AAA did mail out the demand directly to Auto Nation's dealership. **Admittedly, several additional notices were sent to Auto Nation** at that the dealership.

(R. p. 68, lines 2-7) (emphasis added).

Because AutoNation defaulted within the meaning of § 3, it could not compel arbitration pursuant to § 4. *Cahill*, 786 F.3d at 1294; *Sink*, 352 F.3d at 1201-1202; *Quizinsight.com*, 2022 WL 18401758, at *2; *Souffrant*, 2024 WL 4433459, at *2; *Garcia*, 2010 WL 3259922, at *1.

B. AutoNation is not an "aggrieved party" who may compel arbitration.

Even if AutoNation could show it did not default on its agreement to arbitrate, it cannot establish the elements of 9 U.S.C. § 4 to compel arbitration. Pursuant to § 4, an "aggrieved party" may petition for arbitration if it establishes:

(1) the existence of a dispute between the parties, (2) a written agreement that includes an arbitration provision which purports to cover the dispute, (3) the relationship of the transaction, which is evidenced by the agreement, to interstate or foreign commerce, and (4) **the failure, neglect or refusal of the [claimant] to arbitrate the dispute.**

American General Life & Accident Ins. Co. v. Wood, 429 F.3d 83, 87 (4th Cir. 2005) (internal quotations omitted) (emphasis added) (citing 9 U.S.C. § 2 which has since been renumbered to 9 U.S.C. § 4, but without substantive changes to the language of the statute).

The parties do not dispute the first element (the existence of a dispute between the parties). Respectfully, the next two elements of § 4 do not be addressed because, even if accepted as true, AutoNation did not, and cannot meet the fourth element. AutoNation was not aggrieved by Bolmer's alleged failure, neglect, or refusal to arbitrate, so AutoNation's claimed right to compel arbitration fails under the fourth element.

To be entitled to relief pursuant to § 4, AutoNation must establish that it is an "aggrieved party" which contains "two conditions to relief." *Bedgood*, 88 F.4th at 1362.

[The two conditions] are separate, but they are causally related: first, the party resisting arbitration must have "fail[ed], neglect[ed], or refus[ed]" to arbitrate; and second, the party seeking to direct arbitration must have been "aggrieved" *by* that failure, neglect, or refusal.

Id. (emphasis in original).

A party who attempts to arbitrate but is thwarted in that attempt by the conduct of another party does not fail, neglect, or refuse to arbitrate. In *Bedgood*, the parties signed contracts containing arbitration clauses that were governed by the FAA and designated the AAA as the administrator. *Id.* at 1360. After a dispute arose, certain plaintiffs filed petitions to arbitrate with the AAA pursuant to the terms of the purchase agreement with the defendants, but the AAA dismissed the petitions and closed its file because the defendants had failed to comply with the AAA's policies. The plaintiffs then sued in court and the company moved to compel arbitration under the FAA. *Id.* "The defendants' response? You guessed it: They moved to stay the litigation and direct arbitration." *Id.* at 1359.

Bedgood held the defendant was “*ineligible* to move to direct arbitration under Section 4 because it hasn’t been ‘aggrieved’ by any ‘failure, neglect, or refusal’ on the part of [the plaintiffs]” where the “AAA had closed its doors ... because of [the defendants] refusal to comply with AAA policies.” *Id.* at 1366-1367 (emphasis in original).

To put the matter plainly, because each of the Group (1) plaintiffs attempted to arbitrate, there was no “failure, neglect, or refusal” by which [the defendants] could have been “aggrieved.” [The plaintiffs] filed petitions with the AAA to pursue their claims in accordance with their contracts, and their actions and representations in this Court evince a genuine desire to arbitrate. They were thwarted in that pursuit by Resorts’ own conduct.

Id. at 1366. *See also Merritt Island Woodwerx, LLC v. Space Coast Credit Union*, 137 F.4th 1268, 1275 (11th Cir. 2025) (the plaintiff filed an arbitration claim, but the defendant did not pay the required arbitration fees. Held: “Because [the plaintiff] attempted to arbitrate, there was no ‘failure, neglect, or refusal’ by which [the defendant] could have been ‘aggrieved.’”) (internal quotations omitted); *Noble Capital Fund Mgmt., L.L.C. v. US Capital Glob. Inv. Mgmt., L.L.C.*, 31 F.4th 333, 336 (5th Cir. 2022) (“[P]arties may not avoid resolution of live claims through compelling a new arbitration proceeding after having let the first arbitration proceeding fail. Therefore, the district court properly denied [the defendant’s] motion to stay judicial proceedings and compel arbitration.”).

Bolmer did not fail, neglect, or refuse to arbitrate. To the extent AutoNation is aggrieved, it is aggrieved through its own failure to comply with requests to arbitrate, not by Bolmer’s conduct. The fact that it later attempted to comply with the AAA policies does not resurrect the waived right to arbitrate. “[O]nce a right is waived it is gone forever and it cannot be reclaimed [,] ... recaptured[,], ... retracted, recalled, or expunged, even in the absence ... of any change in position by the party in whose favor the waiver operates.” *State v. Battle*, 304 S.C. 191, 195, 403 S.E.2d

331, 333 (Ct. App. 1991) (quoting 92 C.J.S. *Waiver*, at 1069 (1955)). *See also See Merritt Island*, 137 F.4th at 1276 (“the fact that [the defendant] later attempted to comply with the AAA policies doesn’t resurrect the waived contractual right to arbitrate.”).

“Determinations of arbitrability are subject to de novo review, but if any evidence reasonably supports the circuit court’s factual findings, this court will not overrule those findings.” *Pearson v. Hilton Head Hosp.*, 400 S.C. 281, 286, 733 S.E.2d 597, 599 (Ct. App. 2012). Here, the trial court had “reasonable support” for denying AutoNation’s motion to compel arbitration because (1) AutoNation defaulted in arbitration and a party cannot compel arbitration pursuant to the FAA § 4 when it defaults under FAA § 3, and/or (2) AutoNation is not an “aggrieved party” within the meaning of FAA § 4, it could not compel arbitration pursuant to § 4.

II. THE CIRCUIT COURT DID NOT ERR IN DENYING AUTONATION’S MOTION TO COMPEL ARBITRATION BECAUSE AUTONATION WAIVED ITS RIGHT TO ARBITRATE.

AutoNation’s Point II focuses on the issue of waiver. However, because AutoNation defaulted within the meaning of 9 U.S.C. § 3, it cannot compel arbitration under 9 U.S.C. § 4 (*see* discussion under Point I(A)). Moreover, AutoNation cannot compel arbitration because it is not an “aggrieved party” within the meaning of § 4. *See* discussion at Point I(B). Therefore, Point I is dispositive and the Court need not reach Point II. *See Futch v. McAllister Towing of Georgetown, Inc.*, 335 S.C. 598, 613, 518 S.E.2d 591, 598 (1999) (an appellate court need not address the remaining issues on appeal when resolution of a prior issue is dispositive). Even if AutoNation survived its Point I, because AutoNation waived its claimed right to arbitrate, the trial court did not err in denying AutoNation’s motion to compel arbitration.

A. Bolmer did not waive his arguments on appeal.

AutoNation first contends that Bolmer did not preserve in the lower court his argument that AutoNation waived its right to arbitrate because the trial court's order denying AutoNation's motion to arbitrate did not mention waiver, but Bolmer is not the Appellant. AutoNation, as Appellant, is the party required to preserve issues for appeal, not Bolmer, the Respondent.

[A] respondent – the “winner” in the lower court – may raise on appeal any additional reasons the appellate court should affirm the lower court's ruling, regardless of whether those reasons have been presented to or ruled on by the lower court.

I'On, L.L.C. v. Town of Mt. Pleasant, 338 S.C. 406, 419, 526 S.E.2d 716, 723 (2000).

If AutoNation – the Appellant – wanted clarification of the basis for the trial court's denial of its motion to compel arbitration, it was AutoNation's responsibility to make a motion pursuant to SCRCP 59(e). *See Noisette v. Ismail*, 304 S.C. 56, 58, 403 S.E.2d 122, 124 (1991) (an issue is not preserved for appellate review if the trial court did not explicitly rule on the *appellant's* argument and *appellant* failed to file a Rule 59(e) motion to amend or alter the judgment) (emphasis added); *I'On*, 338 S.C. at 419, 526 S.E.2d at 723 (“[T]he losing party generally must both present his issues and arguments to the lower court and obtain a ruling before an appellate court will review those issues and arguments.”) (emphasis added).

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